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OFFICIAL NOTICE AND AGENDA

Notice is hereby given that the Finance Committee of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin will hold a
regular or special meeting as indicated on the date, time and location given below.

Meeting of the: FINANCE COMMITTEE OF THE CITY OF STOUGHTON

Date /Time: Tuesday, April 10,2018 @ 6:00 p.m.

Location: Council Chambers (Stoughton Police Department 2" floor), 321 S Fourth St, Stoughton
Members: Pat O’Connor (Chair), Thomas Majewski (Vice-Chair), Tim Swadley, Lisa Reeves, and

Mayor Donna Olson (ex-officio)

Item # AGENDA

1 Call to Order

2 Communications
3 Reports

OLD BUSINESS

4 Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Revision to Debt Management Policy

NEW BUSINESS

5 Approval of the March 27, 2018 Finance Committee Minutes
6 Update on Tax Incremental Funds
7 Discussion and possible regarding Contract 2-2018 Road Construction on Academy Street

FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS
Review of financia reports and fund balances in the Library, Senior Center, and Food Pantry Funds
McFarland State Bank building condition report

ADJOURNMENT

“IF YOU ARE DISABLED AND IN NEED OF ASSISTANCE, PLEASE CALL 873-6677 PRIOR TO THIS MEETING.”
NOTE: AN EXPANDED MEETING MAY CONSTITUTE A QUORUM OF THE COUNCIL.






City of Stoughton, 381 E Main Street, Stoughton W1 53589

RESOLUTION OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE

Authorize and Direct the proper city official(s) to Amend the
City of Stoughton Debt M anagement Policy

Committee Action: Finance Committee approved 5-0 on February 27, 2018 and meets

on April 10, 2018 for additional revisions

Fiscal Impact: None

File Number: R- -2018 Date I ntroduced: April 10, 2018

WHEREAS, the City of Stoughton Debt Management Policy was adopted by the Common Council
in 1999 and amended on August 26, 2008 and April 25, 2017; and

WHEREAS, the City’ s Finance Director recommended several changes to the Debt Management
Policy at the Finance Committee meeting held on February 27, 2018 and April 10, 2018 as follows:

Debt Indicators. Targeted Ranges — to update “Moodys Investors Service currently rates
General Obligation debt of the City for 2017 “Aa2”, electric system revenue debt for 2016
“A2" and water revenue debt for 2016 “A1”., with the remaining language asis; and

Expenditures for Debt Service: Annual general obligation debt payments should remain in
the range 22 — 24 percent of total budgeted expenditures for operations and debt service.
Thisrating for 2017 was 18%.

Direct Debt Per Capita: The City’s objectiveisto maintain direct debt at alevel equal to or
lower than the Moody’ s Median A-1 on a per capita basis (outstanding general obligation
debt principal divided by total equalized value).

Other Types of Debt — Paragraph on Tax Increment Financing to read: Tax Increment
Financing District debt is away to collect the funds necessary to pay for the construction of
the infrastructure designed to serve the district. The revenueis from the differential of the
original tax revenue collected from the district before it was created and the value of the
growth. Therisk to using TIF debt financing is that the projections of the growth may fail to
materialize as quickly as expected and the shortfall which is ageneral obligation or revenue
obligation of the City will have to come from the general taxpayers and not the property
owners that specifically benefit from the project. In 1995, State law structured TIF debt to be
feasible and self-sufficient. Asagenera guide the City should only undertake TIF projects if
thereis acommitted project that will fund a substantial portion of the expected debt service
and meet the requirements of the City’s Policy for the Creation of Tax Incremental Finance
Districts and the Approval of TIF Projects.






WHEREAS, the Finance Committee has reviewed and recommends the proposed changes 5-0 at
their meeting held February 27, 2018; and

WHEREAS, the Finance Committee met on April 10, 2018 regarding revisions to the section on
Other Types of Debt. Now therefore

BE IT RESOLVED that the Common Council of the City of Stoughton authorizes and directs the
property city official(s) to amend the City of Stoughton Debt Management Policy as recommended.

Council Action: I:I Adopted |:| Failed Vote

Mayoral Action: |:| Accept |:| Veto

Donna Olson, Mayor Date

Council Action: |:| Override Vote





CITY OF STOUGHTON DEBT MANAGEMENT PoLIcY
APPROVED BY COUNCIL JUNE 8, 1999
AMENDED AUGUST 26, 2008, APRIL 25, 2017 and
AMENDED March 13, 2018

The following debt management policies should be used to provide the general framework for
planning and reviewing debt proposals. The Common Council recognizes that there are no absolute
rules or easy formulas that can substitute for a thorough review of all information affecting the City’'s
debt position. Debt decisions should be the result of deliberative consideration of all factors
involved.

DEBT POLICIES

Every future bond or note (collectively “bond”) issue proposal will be accompanied by an analysis
showing how it conforms to the debt policies adopted by the Common Council. The City’s financial
advisor will review and comment on each bond issue proposal, especially in regard to conformance
with existing debt policies and how the financial package impacts the City’'s debt structure, debt
service tax impact and credit factors as viewed by rating agencies. City guidelines for determining
appropriate utilization of debt include:

e General Principals

0 The City will not use short-term borrowing to finance operating needs except in the case of
an extreme financial emergency which is beyond the City’s control or reasonable ability to
forecast.

0 The City will maintain a balanced relationship between issuing debt and pay-as-you-go
financing.

0 The scheduled maturities of long-term obligations should not exceed the expected useful life
of the capital project or asset(s) financed.

0 Interim financing in anticipation of a definite fixed source of revenue such as an authorized,
but unsold bond issue, or a grant is acceptable, however, the City should pursue all
available cash management techniques which will limit the need for interim financing. When
determined necessary, such anticipation notes should not:

0 Have maturities greater than two years;
0 Be rolled over for a period greater than one year; or
0 Be issued solely on the expectations that interest rates will decline from current levels.

0 Use of bond proceeds should be limited to financing the costs of planning, design, land
acquisition, buildings, permanent structures, attached fixtures or equipment, movable pieces
of large equipment such as fire engines, construction project costs, economic development

related capital costs, acquisition of other fixed assets, bond issue costs, debt service reserve
requirements, and refunding of outstanding bond issues.





0 Non-capital furnishings and supplies will not be financed from bond proceeds.

0 Refunding bond issues designed to restructure outstanding debt is an acceptable use of
bond proceeds.

0 The City should actively monitor its investment practices to ensure maximum returns on its
invested bond funds while complying with Federal arbitrage guidelines.

e General Obligation Debt

0 A significantly large proportion of Stoughton’s property taxpayers and citizens should benefit
from projects financed by general obligation bonds.

0 This principle of taxpayer equity should be a primary consideration in determining the type of
projects selected for financing by general obligation debt.

0 General obligation property tax-supported bonds should be used only after considering
alternative funding sources, such as project revenues, Federal and State grants, and special
assessments.

0 Every project proposed for financing through general obligation debt should be accompanied
by a full analysis of the future operating and maintenance costs associated with the project.

e Revenue Debt

0 Revenue supported bonds should be used to limit potential dependence on property taxes
for those projects with available revenue sources, whether self-generated or dedicated from
other sources.

0 Whenever possible, the City will finance utility or enterprise projects by using self-supporting
revenue bonds. Revenue bonds assure the greatest degree of equity because those who
benefit from a project and those who pay for a project are most closely matched.

0 Every project proposed for financing through revenue bond debt should be accompanied by
a full analysis of the future operating and maintenance costs associated with the project.

DEBT INDICATORS: TARGETED RANGES

Moodys Investors Service currently rates General Obligation debt for 2017 of the City “Aa2”,
electric system revenue debt for 2016 “A2” and water revenue debt for 2016 “Al”. The City
intends to manage its debt profile in order to maintain and improve these ratings over time. The
City further intends to maintain a favorable debt profile as compared to similar communities in the
Dane County area and to the medians of cities its size as reported by Moodys Investors Service.
The following are the City’s objectives with respect to debt and fund balance related measures:





[0 FUND BALANCE. To provide for unanticipated expenditures and to permit orderly
adjustment to changes resulting from termination of revenue sources or unanticipated
fluctuations in revenues, the City should strive to maintain an undesignated General
Fund balance, which is fifteen to twenty percent of General Fund revenues.

"1 EXPENDITURES FOR DEBT SERVICE. Annual general obligation debt payments should
remain in the range 22 — 24 percent of total budgeted expenditures for operations and debt
service. This rating for 2017 budget was 18%.

[0 DIRECT DEBT BURDEN. The City’s objective is to maintain a direct debt burden ratio of
4.00% or less (outstanding general obligation debt principal divided by total equalized
value).

[0 DIRECT DEBT PER CAPITA. The City’s objective is to maintain direct debt at a level
equal to or lower than the Moody’'s Median A-1 on a per capita basis (outstanding
general obligation debt principal divided by total equalized value).

DEBT ANALYSIS CRITERIA

Whenever the City is contemplating a possible debt issue, information will be developed
concerning the following four categories commonly used by rating agencies to assess credit
worthiness. The utilization of the following criteria may be selective and not all criteria may apply to
a specific financing.

1.

2.

3.

Debt Analysis

- Debt capacity analysis

- Purposes for which debt is issued

- Debt type, structure and term

- Debt burden and magnitude indicators and ratios as compared to other communities
and national medians

- Debt history and trends

- Adequacy of debt and capital planning

- Obsolescence of capital plant

Financial Analysis

- Stability, diversity, and growth rates of tax sources

- Trend in property valuation and collections

- Current budget trends to include the effect of any State levy limitations
- Appraisals of past revenue and expenditure estimates

- Evidences of financial planning

- History and long-term trends of revenues and expenditures

- Adherence to generally accepted accounting principles

- Fund balance status and trends

- Financial monitoring systems and capabilities

Governmental and Administrative Analysis

- Adequacy of basic service provision

- Intergovernmental cooperation/conflict and extent of duplication
- Overall city planning efforts





4. Economic Analysis
- Population and demographic characteristics
- Level of new construction and development
- Types of employment, industry, and occupation
- Trend of the economy

DEBT PLANNING TIMEFRAME

To allow sufficient time for review and analysis, bond issues should be submitted to the City Council
at least two months prior to the meetings at which Common Council approval will be requested to
award the sale of the bonds. General obligation bond borrowing and especially revenue bonds must
be planned and the details of the plan must be incorporated in the multi-year CIP program. It is
imperative that the City demonstrates to the rating agencies, underwriters and other financial
institutions that may purchase City debt and City of Stoughton taxpayers that City officials are
following a prescribed financial plan.

COMMUNICATION AND DISCLOSURE POLICIES

The City will maintain good communications with bond rating agencies to inform them about the
City’s financial condition. The City will follow a policy of full disclosure. Significant financial reports
affecting or commenting on the City will be forwarded to the rating agencies. Each bond prospectus
will follow Federal Security and Exchange Commission, State and the Government Finance Officers
Association disclosure guidelines.

The City should attempt to develop coordinated communication processes with all other jurisdictions
that share a common property tax base concerning collective plans for future debt issues.
Reciprocally shared information on debt plans including amounts, purposes, timing, and types of
debt would aid each jurisdiction in its debt planning decisions.

LONG TERM LEASES

Adequate financial feasibility studies should be performed for all innovative financing proposals such
as lease and lease-purchase agreements. Lease financing is appropriate in the following situations:

a) Whenever the introduction of leased equipment and/or a capital improvement results in
verifiable operating savings that, properly discounted, outweigh the lease financing costs.

b) To purchase important capital equipment or finance improvement projects for which lease
financing costs can be paid for by: 1) existing non-general fund revenues; 2) new, earmarked
revenues approved by the Council, or 3) incremental general fund revenues that can be
specifically attributed to the introduction of the capital project.

C) To finance projects deemed important enough (for safety, legal, efficiency, or other reasons)
to lead to a reallocation of existing revenues.

Written justification is required for each proposed lease transaction. The project lease payments and
a cash flow statement over the life of the transaction are required for every proposed lease
agreement. This justification should include the following:

a) Detailed explanation of the factors listed in the guidelines;





b) Reasons for not recommending a “current payment” alternative;
c) Explanation for not recommending financing through bond issuance.
OTHER TYPES OF DEBT

The City can act as a conduit for financing a variety of public/private partnerships where a private
enterprise uses the City as a means of obtaining lower cost financing. These issues in the past have
included Special Assessment “B-Bonds” for subdivision development and Industrial Revenue Bonds
(IRB’s) for manufacturing plant expansions. The City has also used Tax Increment Financing District
revenue to fund general obligation and revenue debt issues. Each type of debt issuance has a
different type of concern or issue to deal with.

B-Bonds potentially have the greater risk compared to Industrial Revenue Bonds for the City and
even though the B-Bond debt is not an obligation of the City there may be an effect on the credit
rating of the City if the bond issuer defaults. The City should require that the party seeking the
bonds provide the City with a financial plan that demonstrates the need for the special debt and that
the project can sustain the necessary debt payments. In particular the City should determine the
likelihood of the special assessments not being paid off in a timely manner and how the developer
could pay the installments in that case. The City should require the establishment of a reserve
account equal to one year’'s principal and interest payment. The City should recover all
administrative and issuance costs for the term of the bonds from the bond issuer by insuring that all
of the administrative costs are included in the special assessments. The City will not issue any B-
bond debt for any improvements coupled with a housing development project until there is a
shortage of single family housing as determined by the Dane County Regional Planning
Commission or some other recognized agency that can provide housing availability statistics.

Industrial Revenue bond debt merely uses the City as a conduit for obtaining lower cost financing.
Due to the nature of these types of projects the City has no risk in the case of a default. The City
should insure that the issuance of IRB provides benefit to the City through the creation of jobs or
improvements to the manufacturing capabilities at the site and not for refinancing purposes. The
City should recover all administrative and issuance costs for the term of the bonds from the bond
issuer. In the case that the IRB will be issued on a tax-exempt basis, the City must consider the
impact this may have on its ability to issue “Bank Qualified” tax exempt obligations in that calendar
year.

Tax Increment Financing District debt is a way to collect the funds necessary to pay for the
construction of the infrastructure designed to serve the district. The revenue is from the differential
of the original tax revenue collected from the district before it was created and the value of the
growth. The risk to using TIF debt financing is that the projections of growth may fail to materialize
as quickly as expected and the shortfall which is a general obligation or revenue obligation of the
City will have to come from the general taxpayers and not the property owners that specially benefit
from the project. In 1995, State law structured TIF Debt to be feasible and self-sufficient. As a
general guide the City should only undertake TIF projects if there is a committed project that will
fund a substantial portion of the expected debt service. The TIF debt project should only be
undertaken if the initial project plus the schedule of improvements over a ten-year period will pay off
in ten years or less. The same type of analysis identified in the Debt Analysis Criteria starting on
page two should be done for TIF related debt as for normal general obligation debt.





LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS

General Obligation Bonds and Notes Chapter 67 of the State Statutes. The City is authorized to issue
General Obligation Bonds and Notes payable from ad valorem taxes to finance capital improvements.
The repayment term for bonds cannot exceed 20 years and notes cannot exceed 10 years. The
Wisconsin State Statutes provide that the principal amount of bonds payable from tax receipts
(including bonds payable from special assessments) will not exceed 5% of the total equalized
valuation of the taxable property in the City.

Revenue Bonds for Cities Section 66.51 of the State Statutes. The City is authorized to issue Industrial
Revenue Bonds payable from revenues generated from the owner of the project. The repayment term
cannot exceed 35 years. The Wisconsin State Statutes provide that the credit of the City will not be
pledged to repay this form of debt. This type of debt will not count toward the 5% calculation discussed
above.

Revenue Bonds for Utility Purposes Section 66.066 of the State Statutes. The City is authorized to
issue Revenue Bonds payable from revenues generated from the income of the utility systems like
water, sanitary sewer, electric, transportation and other related types of capital improvements. The
repayment term cannot exceed 40 years. The Wisconsin State Statutes provide that the credit of the
City will not be pledged to repay this form of debt. This type of debt will not count toward the 5%
calculation discussed above.

Special Assessment B-Bonds Section 66.54 of the State Statutes. The City is authorized to issue B-
Bonds payable from special assessments levied against benefiting properties. The B-Bonds can be
used to construct improvements like streets, water and sewer lines, sidewalks, street lighting, etc. The
repayment schedule is complex because the repayment schedule must match that of the special
assessment plan for the particular project. The term cannot exceed the length of time that the special
assessment project is levied for in the adopting ordinance. The Wisconsin State Statutes provide that
the credit of the City will not be pledged to repay this form of debt. This type of debt will not count
toward the 5% calculation discussed above.

Tax and Grant Anticipation Notes. The City is further empowered under the State law to borrow money
to meet the cash requirements of any fund in anticipation of revenue receipts from the current fiscal
year. All such tax and revenue anticipation notes must be repaid within nine months from the date
borrowed and in no event beyond the end of the fiscal year in which the debt was incurred.

The City has never utilized tax anticipation or grant anticipation notes, but could do so under the
procedures outlined in the State Statues. Unlike tax and revenue anticipation notes which represent the
full faith and credit obligations of the City payable from the General Fund revenues, grant anticipation
notes are special obligations payable solely from, and secured by, federal highway grants. The taxing
power of the City is not pledged to the payment of the notes, nor do the notes constitute an
indebtedness of the City within the meaning of any constitutional, statutory or charter provision.





CITY OF STOUGHTON DEBT MANAGEMENT PoLIcY
APPROVED BY COUNCIL JUNE 8, 1999
AMENDED AUGUST 26, 2008, APRIL 25, 2017 and
AMENDED April 10, 2018

The following debt management policies should be used to provide the general framework for
planning and reviewing debt proposals. The Common Council recognizes that there are no absolute
rules or easy formulas that can substitute for a thorough review of all information affecting the City’'s
debt position. Debt decisions should be the result of deliberative consideration of all factors
involved.

DEBT POLICIES

Every future bond or note (collectively “bond”) issue proposal will be accompanied by an analysis
showing how it conforms to the debt policies adopted by the Common Council. The City’s financial
advisor will review and comment on each bond issue proposal, especially in regard to conformance
with existing debt policies and how the financial package impacts the City’'s debt structure, debt
service tax impact and credit factors as viewed by rating agencies. City guidelines for determining
appropriate utilization of debt include:

e General Principals

0 The City will not use short-term borrowing to finance operating needs except in the case of
an extreme financial emergency which is beyond the City’s control or reasonable ability to
forecast.

0 The City will maintain a balanced relationship between issuing debt and pay-as-you-go
financing.

0 The scheduled maturities of long-term obligations should not exceed the expected useful life
of the capital project or asset(s) financed.

0 Interim financing in anticipation of a definite fixed source of revenue such as an authorized,
but unsold bond issue, or a grant is acceptable, however, the City should pursue all
available cash management techniques which will limit the need for interim financing. When
determined necessary, such anticipation notes should not:

0 Have maturities greater than two years;
0 Be rolled over for a period greater than one year; or
0 Be issued solely on the expectations that interest rates will decline from current levels.

0 Use of bond proceeds should be limited to financing the costs of planning, design, land
acquisition, buildings, permanent structures, attached fixtures or equipment, movable pieces
of large equipment such as fire engines, construction project costs, economic development

related capital costs, acquisition of other fixed assets, bond issue costs, debt service reserve
requirements, and refunding of outstanding bond issues.
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0 Non-capital furnishings and supplies will not be financed from bond proceeds.

0 Refunding bond issues designed to restructure outstanding debt is an acceptable use of
bond proceeds.

0 The City should actively monitor its investment practices to ensure maximum returns on its
invested bond funds while complying with Federal arbitrage guidelines.

e General Obligation Debt

0 A significantly large proportion of Stoughton’s property taxpayers and citizens should benefit
from projects financed by general obligation bonds.

0 This principle of taxpayer equity should be a primary consideration in determining the type of
projects selected for financing by general obligation debt.

0 General obligation property tax-supported bonds should be used only after considering
alternative funding sources, such as project revenues, Federal and State grants, and special
assessments.

0 Every project proposed for financing through general obligation debt should be accompanied
by a full analysis of the future operating and maintenance costs associated with the project.

e Revenue Debt

0 Revenue supported bonds should be used to limit potential dependence on property taxes
for those projects with available revenue sources, whether self-generated or dedicated from
other sources.

0 Whenever possible, the City will finance utility or enterprise projects by using self-supporting
revenue bonds. Revenue bonds assure the greatest degree of equity because those who
benefit from a project and those who pay for a project are most closely matched.

0 Every project proposed for financing through revenue bond debt should be accompanied by
a full analysis of the future operating and maintenance costs associated with the project.

DEBT INDICATORS: TARGETED RANGES

Moodys Investors Service currently rates General Obligation debt for 2017 of the City “A%” “Aa2”,
electric system revenue debt for 2016 “A2” and water revenue debt for 2016 “A3-Al". The City
intends to manage its debt profile in order to maintain and improve these ratings over time. The
City further intends to maintain a favorable debt profile as compared to similar communities in the
Dane County area and to the medians of cities its size as reported by Moodys Investors Service.
The following are the City’s objectives with respect to debt and fund balance related measures:
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[0 FUND BALANCE. To provide for unanticipated expenditures and to permit orderly
adjustment to changes resulting from termination of revenue sources or unanticipated
fluctuations in revenues, the City should strive to maintain an undesignated General
Fund balance, which is fifteen to twenty percent of General Fund revenues.

"1 EXPENDITURES FOR DEBT SERVICE. Annual general obligation debt payments should
remain in the range 22 — 24 percent of total budgeted expenditures for operations and debt
service. This rating for 2017 budget was 18%.

[0 DIRECT DEBT BURDEN. The City’s objective is to maintain a direct debt burden ratio of
4.00% or less (outstanding general obligation debt principal divided by total equalized
value).

[0 DIRECT DEBT PER CAPITA. The City’'s objective is to maintain direct debt at a level
equal to or lower than the Moody’s Median A-1, {$1;713for 2008} on a per capita basis
(outstanding general obligation debt principal divided by total equalized value).

DEBT ANALYSIS CRITERIA

Whenever the City is contemplating a possible debt issue, information will be developed
concerning the following four categories commonly used by rating agencies to assess credit
worthiness. The utilization of the following criteria may be selective and not all criteria may apply to
a specific financing.

1.

2.

3.

Debt Analysis

- Debt capacity analysis

- Purposes for which debt is issued

- Debt type, structure and term

- Debt burden and magnitude indicators and ratios as compared to other communities
and national medians

- Debt history and trends

- Adequacy of debt and capital planning

- Obsolescence of capital plant

Financial Analysis

- Stability, diversity, and growth rates of tax sources

- Trend in property valuation and collections

- Current budget trends to include the effect of any State levy limitations
- Appraisals of past revenue and expenditure estimates

- Evidences of financial planning

- History and long-term trends of revenues and expenditures

- Adherence to generally accepted accounting principles

- Fund balance status and trends

- Financial monitoring systems and capabilities

Governmental and Administrative Analysis

- Adequacy of basic service provision

- Intergovernmental cooperation/conflict and extent of duplication
- Overall city planning efforts
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4. Economic Analysis
- Population and demographic characteristics
- Level of new construction and development
- Types of employment, industry, and occupation
- Trend of the economy

DEBT PLANNING TIMEFRAME

To allow sufficient time for review and analysis, bond issues should be submitted to the City Council
at least two months prior to the meetings at which Common Council approval will be requested to
award the sale of the bonds. General obligation bond borrowing and especially revenue bonds must
be planned and the details of the plan must be incorporated in the multi-year CIP program. It is
imperative that the City demonstrates to the rating agencies, underwriters and other financial
institutions that may purchase City debt and City of Stoughton taxpayers that City officials are
following a prescribed financial plan.

COMMUNICATION AND DISCLOSURE POLICIES

The City will maintain good communications with bond rating agencies to inform them about the
City’s financial condition. The City will follow a policy of full disclosure. Significant financial reports
affecting or commenting on the City will be forwarded to the rating agencies. Each bond prospectus
will follow Federal Security and Exchange Commission, State and the Government Finance Officers
Association disclosure guidelines.

The City should attempt to develop coordinated communication processes with all other jurisdictions
that share a common property tax base concerning collective plans for future debt issues.
Reciprocally shared information on debt plans including amounts, purposes, timing, and types of
debt would aid each jurisdiction in its debt planning decisions.

LONG TERM LEASES

Adequate financial feasibility studies should be performed for all innovative financing proposals such
as lease and lease-purchase agreements. Lease financing is appropriate in the following situations:

a) Whenever the introduction of leased equipment and/or a capital improvement results in
verifiable operating savings that, properly discounted, outweigh the lease financing costs.

b) To purchase important capital equipment or finance improvement projects for which lease
financing costs can be paid for by: 1) existing non-general fund revenues; 2) new, earmarked
revenues approved by the Council, or 3) incremental general fund revenues that can be
specifically attributed to the introduction of the capital project.

C) To finance projects deemed important enough (for safety, legal, efficiency, or other reasons)
to lead to a reallocation of existing revenues.

Written justification is required for each proposed lease transaction. The project lease payments and
a cash flow statement over the life of the transaction are required for every proposed lease
agreement. This justification should include the following:

a) Detailed explanation of the factors listed in the guidelines;
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b) Reasons for not recommending a “current payment” alternative;
c) Explanation for not recommending financing through bond issuance.
OTHER TYPES OF DEBT

The City can act as a conduit for financing a variety of public/private partnerships where a private
enterprise uses the City as a means of obtaining lower cost financing. These issues in the past have
included Special Assessment “B-Bonds” for subdivision development and Industrial Revenue Bonds
(IRB’s) for manufacturing plant expansions. The City has also used Tax Increment Financing District
revenue to fund general obligation and revenue debt issues. Each type of debt issuance has a
different type of concern or issue to deal with.

B-Bonds potentially have the greater risk compared to Industrial Revenue Bonds for the City and
even though the B-Bond debt is not an obligation of the City there may be an effect on the credit
rating of the City if the bond issuer defaults. The City should require that the party seeking the
bonds provide the City with a financial plan that demonstrates the need for the special debt and that
the project can sustain the necessary debt payments. In particular the City should determine the
likelihood of the special assessments not being paid off in a timely manner and how the developer
could pay the installments in that case. The City should require the establishment of a reserve
account equal to one year’s principal and interest payment. The City should recover all
administrative and issuance costs for the term of the bonds from the bond issuer by insuring that all
of the administrative costs are included in the special assessments. The City will not issue any B-
bond debt for any improvements coupled with a housing development project until there is a
shortage of single family housing as determined by the Dane County Regional Planning
Commission or some other recognized agency that can provide housing availability statistics.

Industrial Revenue bond debt merely uses the City as a conduit for obtaining lower cost financing.
Due to the nature of these types of projects the City has no risk in the case of a default. The City
should insure that the issuance of IRB provides benefit to the City through the creation of jobs or
improvements to the manufacturing capabilities at the site and not for refinancing purposes. The
City should recover all administrative and issuance costs for the term of the bonds from the bond
issuer. In the case that the IRB will be issued on a tax-exempt basis, the City must consider the
impact this may have on its ability to issue “Bank Qualified” tax exempt obligations in that calendar
year.

Tax Increment Financing District debt is a way to collect the funds necessary to pay for the
construction of the infrastructure designed to serve the district. The revenue is from the differential
of the original tax revenue collected from the district before it was created and the value of the
growth. The risk to using TIF debt financing is that the projections of growth may fail to materialize
as quickly as expected and the shortfall which is a general obligation or revenue obligation of the
City will have to come from the qeneral taxpavers and not the propertv owners that speuallv benefit
from the project.
Fdebt— In 1995, State Iaw structured TIF Debt to be fea3|ble and self suff|C|ent As a general
guide the City should only undertake TIF projects if there is a committed project that will fund a
substantial portion of the expected debt service and meet the requirements of the City’s Policy for
the Creation of Tax Incremental Flnance Dlstncts and the Approval of TIF Projects. Fhe-FHF-debt






blisation-debt.
LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS

General Obligation Bonds and Notes Chapter 67 of the State Statutes. The City is authorized to
issue General Obligation Bonds and Notes payable from ad valorem taxes to finance capital
improvements. The repayment term for bonds cannot exceed 20 years and notes cannot exceed
10 years. The Wisconsin State Statutes provide that the principal amount of bonds payable from
tax receipts (including bonds payable from special assessments) will not exceed 5% of the total
equalized valuation of the taxable property in the City.

Revenue Bonds for Cities Section 66.51 of the State Statutes. The City is authorized to issue
Industrial Revenue Bonds payable from revenues generated from the owner of the project. The
repayment term cannot exceed 35 years. The Wisconsin State Statutes provide that the credit of the
City will not be pledged to repay this form of debt. This type of debt will not count toward the 5%
calculation discussed above.

Revenue Bonds for Utility Purposes Section 66.066 of the State Statutes. The City is authorized to
issue Revenue Bonds payable from revenues generated from the income of the utility systems like
water, sanitary sewer, electric, transportation and other related types of capital improvements. The
repayment term cannot exceed 40 years. The Wisconsin State Statutes provide that the credit of the
City will not be pledged to repay this form of debt. This type of debt will not count toward the 5%
calculation discussed above.

Special Assessment B-Bonds Section 66.54 of the State Statutes. The City is authorized to issue B-
Bonds payable from special assessments levied against benefiting properties. The B-Bonds can be
used to construct improvements like streets, water and sewer lines, sidewalks, street lighting, etc.
The repayment schedule is complex because the repayment schedule must match that of the
special assessment plan for the particular project. The term cannot exceed the length of time that
the special assessment project is levied for in the adopting ordinance. The Wisconsin State Statutes
provide that the credit of the City will not be pledged to repay this form of debt. This type of debt will
not count toward the 5% calculation discussed above.

Tax and Grant Anticipation Notes. The City is further empowered under the State law to borrow
money to meet the cash requirements of any fund in anticipation of revenue receipts from the
current fiscal year. All such tax and revenue anticipation notes must be repaid within nine months
from the date borrowed and in no event beyond the end of the fiscal year in which the debt was
incurred.

The City has never utilized tax anticipation or grant anticipation notes, but could do so under the
procedures outlined in the State Statues. Unlike tax and revenue anticipation notes which represent
the full faith and credit obligations of the City payable from the General Fund revenues, grant
anticipation notes are special obligations payable solely from, and secured by, federal highway
grants. The taxing power of the City is not pledged to the payment of the notes, nor do the notes
constitute an indebtedness of the City within the meaning of any constitutional, statutory or charter
provision.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON DEBT MANAGEMENT PoLIcY
APPROVED BY COUNCIL JUNE 8, 1999
AMENDED AUGUST 26, 2008, APRIL 25, 2017 and
AMENDED April 10, 2018

The following debt management policies should be used to provide the general framework for
planning and reviewing debt proposals. The Common Council recognizes that there are no absolute
rules or easy formulas that can substitute for a thorough review of all information affecting the City’'s
debt position. Debt decisions should be the result of deliberative consideration of all factors
involved.

DEBT POLICIES

Every future bond or note (collectively “bond”) issue proposal will be accompanied by an analysis
showing how it conforms to the debt policies adopted by the Common Council. The City’s financial
advisor will review and comment on each bond issue proposal, especially in regard to conformance
with existing debt policies and how the financial package impacts the City’'s debt structure, debt
service tax impact and credit factors as viewed by rating agencies. City guidelines for determining
appropriate utilization of debt include:

e General Principals

0 The City will not use short-term borrowing to finance operating needs except in the case of
an extreme financial emergency which is beyond the City’s control or reasonable ability to
forecast.

0 The City will maintain a balanced relationship between issuing debt and pay-as-you-go
financing.

0 The scheduled maturities of long-term obligations should not exceed the expected useful life
of the capital project or asset(s) financed.

0 Interim financing in anticipation of a definite fixed source of revenue such as an authorized,
but unsold bond issue, or a grant is acceptable, however, the City should pursue all
available cash management techniques which will limit the need for interim financing. When
determined necessary, such anticipation notes should not:

0 Have maturities greater than two years;
0 Be rolled over for a period greater than one year; or
0 Be issued solely on the expectations that interest rates will decline from current levels.

0 Use of bond proceeds should be limited to financing the costs of planning, design, land
acquisition, buildings, permanent structures, attached fixtures or equipment, movable pieces
of large equipment such as fire engines, construction project costs, economic development

related capital costs, acquisition of other fixed assets, bond issue costs, debt service reserve
requirements, and refunding of outstanding bond issues.





0 Non-capital furnishings and supplies will not be financed from bond proceeds.

0 Refunding bond issues designed to restructure outstanding debt is an acceptable use of
bond proceeds.

0 The City should actively monitor its investment practices to ensure maximum returns on its
invested bond funds while complying with Federal arbitrage guidelines.

e General Obligation Debt

0 A significantly large proportion of Stoughton’s property taxpayers and citizens should benefit
from projects financed by general obligation bonds.

0 This principle of taxpayer equity should be a primary consideration in determining the type of
projects selected for financing by general obligation debt.

0 General obligation property tax-supported bonds should be used only after considering
alternative funding sources, such as project revenues, Federal and State grants, and special
assessments.

0 Every project proposed for financing through general obligation debt should be accompanied
by a full analysis of the future operating and maintenance costs associated with the project.

e Revenue Debt

0 Revenue supported bonds should be used to limit potential dependence on property taxes
for those projects with available revenue sources, whether self-generated or dedicated from
other sources.

0 Whenever possible, the City will finance utility or enterprise projects by using self-supporting
revenue bonds. Revenue bonds assure the greatest degree of equity because those who
benefit from a project and those who pay for a project are most closely matched.

0 Every project proposed for financing through revenue bond debt should be accompanied by
a full analysis of the future operating and maintenance costs associated with the project.

DEBT INDICATORS: TARGETED RANGES

Moodys Investors Service currently rates General Obligation debt for 2017 of the City “Aa2”,
electric system revenue debt for 2016 “A2” and water revenue debt for 2016 “Al”. The City
intends to manage its debt profile in order to maintain and improve these ratings over time. The
City further intends to maintain a favorable debt profile as compared to similar communities in the
Dane County area and to the medians of cities its size as reported by Moodys Investors Service.
The following are the City’s objectives with respect to debt and fund balance related measures:





[0 FUND BALANCE. To provide for unanticipated expenditures and to permit orderly
adjustment to changes resulting from termination of revenue sources or unanticipated
fluctuations in revenues, the City should strive to maintain an undesignated General
Fund balance, which is fifteen to twenty percent of General Fund revenues.

"1 EXPENDITURES FOR DEBT SERVICE. Annual general obligation debt payments should
remain in the range 22 — 24 percent of total budgeted expenditures for operations and debt
service. This rating for 2017 budget was 18%.

[0 DIRECT DEBT BURDEN. The City’s objective is to maintain a direct debt burden ratio of
4.00% or less (outstanding general obligation debt principal divided by total equalized
value).

[0 DIRECT DEBT PER CAPITA. The City’'s objective is to maintain direct debt at a level
equal to or lower than the Moody’'s Median A-1 on a per capita basis (outstanding
general obligation debt principal divided by total equalized value).

DEBT ANALYSIS CRITERIA

Whenever the City is contemplating a possible debt issue, information will be developed
concerning the following four categories commonly used by rating agencies to assess credit
worthiness. The utilization of the following criteria may be selective and not all criteria may apply to
a specific financing.

1.

2.

3.

Debt Analysis

- Debt capacity analysis

- Purposes for which debt is issued

- Debt type, structure and term

- Debt burden and magnitude indicators and ratios as compared to other communities
and national medians

- Debt history and trends

- Adequacy of debt and capital planning

- Obsolescence of capital plant

Financial Analysis

- Stability, diversity, and growth rates of tax sources

- Trend in property valuation and collections

- Current budget trends to include the effect of any State levy limitations
- Appraisals of past revenue and expenditure estimates

- Evidences of financial planning

- History and long-term trends of revenues and expenditures

- Adherence to generally accepted accounting principles

- Fund balance status and trends

- Financial monitoring systems and capabilities

Governmental and Administrative Analysis

- Adequacy of basic service provision

- Intergovernmental cooperation/conflict and extent of duplication
- Overall city planning efforts





4. Economic Analysis
- Population and demographic characteristics
- Level of new construction and development
- Types of employment, industry, and occupation
- Trend of the economy

DEBT PLANNING TIMEFRAME

To allow sufficient time for review and analysis, bond issues should be submitted to the City Council
at least two months prior to the meetings at which Common Council approval will be requested to
award the sale of the bonds. General obligation bond borrowing and especially revenue bonds must
be planned and the details of the plan must be incorporated in the multi-year CIP program. It is
imperative that the City demonstrates to the rating agencies, underwriters and other financial
institutions that may purchase City debt and City of Stoughton taxpayers that City officials are
following a prescribed financial plan.

COMMUNICATION AND DISCLOSURE POLICIES

The City will maintain good communications with bond rating agencies to inform them about the
City’s financial condition. The City will follow a policy of full disclosure. Significant financial reports
affecting or commenting on the City will be forwarded to the rating agencies. Each bond prospectus
will follow Federal Security and Exchange Commission, State and the Government Finance Officers
Association disclosure guidelines.

The City should attempt to develop coordinated communication processes with all other jurisdictions
that share a common property tax base concerning collective plans for future debt issues.
Reciprocally shared information on debt plans including amounts, purposes, timing, and types of
debt would aid each jurisdiction in its debt planning decisions.

LONG TERM LEASES

Adequate financial feasibility studies should be performed for all innovative financing proposals such
as lease and lease-purchase agreements. Lease financing is appropriate in the following situations:

a) Whenever the introduction of leased equipment and/or a capital improvement results in
verifiable operating savings that, properly discounted, outweigh the lease financing costs.

b) To purchase important capital equipment or finance improvement projects for which lease
financing costs can be paid for by: 1) existing non-general fund revenues; 2) new, earmarked
revenues approved by the Council, or 3) incremental general fund revenues that can be
specifically attributed to the introduction of the capital project.

C) To finance projects deemed important enough (for safety, legal, efficiency, or other reasons)
to lead to a reallocation of existing revenues.

Written justification is required for each proposed lease transaction. The project lease payments and
a cash flow statement over the life of the transaction are required for every proposed lease
agreement. This justification should include the following:

a) Detailed explanation of the factors listed in the guidelines;





b) Reasons for not recommending a “current payment” alternative;
c) Explanation for not recommending financing through bond issuance.
OTHER TYPES OF DEBT

The City can act as a conduit for financing a variety of public/private partnerships where a private
enterprise uses the City as a means of obtaining lower cost financing. These issues in the past have
included Special Assessment “B-Bonds” for subdivision development and Industrial Revenue Bonds
(IRB’s) for manufacturing plant expansions. The City has also used Tax Increment Financing District
revenue to fund general obligation and revenue debt issues. Each type of debt issuance has a
different type of concern or issue to deal with.

B-Bonds potentially have the greater risk compared to Industrial Revenue Bonds for the City and
even though the B-Bond debt is not an obligation of the City there may be an effect on the credit
rating of the City if the bond issuer defaults. The City should require that the party seeking the
bonds provide the City with a financial plan that demonstrates the need for the special debt and that
the project can sustain the necessary debt payments. In particular the City should determine the
likelihood of the special assessments not being paid off in a timely manner and how the developer
could pay the installments in that case. The City should require the establishment of a reserve
account equal to one year’'s principal and interest payment. The City should recover all
administrative and issuance costs for the term of the bonds from the bond issuer by insuring that all
of the administrative costs are included in the special assessments. The City will not issue any B-
bond debt for any improvements coupled with a housing development project until there is a
shortage of single family housing as determined by the Dane County Regional Planning
Commission or some other recognized agency that can provide housing availability statistics.

Industrial Revenue bond debt merely uses the City as a conduit for obtaining lower cost financing.
Due to the nature of these types of projects the City has no risk in the case of a default. The City
should insure that the issuance of IRB provides benefit to the City through the creation of jobs or
improvements to the manufacturing capabilities at the site and not for refinancing purposes. The
City should recover all administrative and issuance costs for the term of the bonds from the bond
issuer. In the case that the IRB will be issued on a tax-exempt basis, the City must consider the
impact this may have on its ability to issue “Bank Qualified” tax exempt obligations in that calendar
year.

Tax Increment Financing District debt is a way to collect the funds necessary to pay for the
construction of the infrastructure designed to serve the district. The revenue is from the differential
of the original tax revenue collected from the district before it was created and the value of the
growth. The risk to using TIF debt financing is that the projections of growth may fail to materialize
as quickly as expected and the shortfall which is a general obligation or revenue obligation of the
City will have to come from the general taxpayers and not the property owners that specially benefit
from the project. In 1995, State law structured TIF Debt to be feasible and self-sufficient. As a
general guide the City should only undertake TIF projects if there is a committed project that will
fund a substantial portion of the expected debt service and meet the requirements of the City's
Policy for the Creation of Tax Incremental Finance Districts and the Approval of TIF Projects.





LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS

General Obligation Bonds and Notes Chapter 67 of the State Statutes. The City is authorized to
issue General Obligation Bonds and Notes payable from ad valorem taxes to finance capital
improvements. The repayment term for bonds cannot exceed 20 years and notes cannot exceed
10 years. The Wisconsin State Statutes provide that the principal amount of bonds payable from
tax receipts (including bonds payable from special assessments) will not exceed 5% of the total
equalized valuation of the taxable property in the City.

Revenue Bonds for Cities Section 66.51 of the State Statutes. The City is authorized to issue
Industrial Revenue Bonds payable from revenues generated from the owner of the project. The
repayment term cannot exceed 35 years. The Wisconsin State Statutes provide that the credit of the
City will not be pledged to repay this form of debt. This type of debt will not count toward the 5%
calculation discussed above.

Revenue Bonds for Utility Purposes Section 66.066 of the State Statutes. The City is authorized to
issue Revenue Bonds payable from revenues generated from the income of the utility systems like
water, sanitary sewer, electric, transportation and other related types of capital improvements. The
repayment term cannot exceed 40 years. The Wisconsin State Statutes provide that the credit of the
City will not be pledged to repay this form of debt. This type of debt will not count toward the 5%
calculation discussed above.

Special Assessment B-Bonds Section 66.54 of the State Statutes. The City is authorized to issue B-
Bonds payable from special assessments levied against benefiting properties. The B-Bonds can be
used to construct improvements like streets, water and sewer lines, sidewalks, street lighting, etc.
The repayment schedule is complex because the repayment schedule must match that of the
special assessment plan for the particular project. The term cannot exceed the length of time that
the special assessment project is levied for in the adopting ordinance. The Wisconsin State Statutes
provide that the credit of the City will not be pledged to repay this form of debt. This type of debt will
not count toward the 5% calculation discussed above.

Tax and Grant Anticipation Notes. The City is further empowered under the State law to borrow
money to meet the cash requirements of any fund in anticipation of revenue receipts from the
current fiscal year. All such tax and revenue anticipation notes must be repaid within nine months
from the date borrowed and in no event beyond the end of the fiscal year in which the debt was
incurred.

The City has never utilized tax anticipation or grant anticipation notes, but could do so under the
procedures outlined in the State Statues. Unlike tax and revenue anticipation notes which represent
the full faith and credit obligations of the City payable from the General Fund revenues, grant
anticipation notes are special obligations payable solely from, and secured by, federal highway
grants. The taxing power of the City is not pledged to the payment of the notes, nor do the notes
constitute an indebtedness of the City within the meaning of any constitutional, statutory or charter
provision.










CITY OF STOUGHTON DEBT MANAGEMENT POLICY

The following debt management policies should be used to provide the general framework for
planning and reviewing debt proposals. The Common Council recognizes that there are no abso-
lute rules or easy formulas that can substitute for a thorough review of all information affecting
the City's debt position. Debt decisions should be the result of deliberative consideration of all
factors involved. The City's financial management policies should be oriented to maintain a
balanced relationship between issuing debt and pay-as-you-go financing. Proceeds from long-
term debt should not be used to fund current operating costs. The scheduled maturities of long-
term obligations should not exceed the expected useful life of the capital project or asset(s) fi-
nanced.

General Debt Policies

The City may seek to obtain a bond rating so any future borrowing costs are minimized and
access to credit is preserved. Every future bond issue proposal will be accompanied by an analy-
sis provided by the proposing department, board or commission and the City Finance Director
showing how it conforms with the debt policies adopted by the Common Council. The City's
auditing firm and/or financial advisor will review and comment on each bond issue proposal,
especially in regard to conformance with existing debt policies and how the financial package
impacts on the City's credit worthiness.

The City will not use short-term borrowing to finance operating needs except in the case of an
extreme financial emergency which is beyond the City's control or reasonable ability to forecast.
However, interim financing in anticipation of a definite fixed source of revenue such as an au-
thorized, but unsold bond issue, or a grant is acceptable. Such bonds or grant anticipation notes
and warrants should not:

- Have maturities greater than two years;
- Be rolled over for a period greater than one year; or
- Be issued solely on the expectations that interest rates will decline from current levels.

Bond proceeds should be limited to financing the costs of planning, design, land acquisition,
buildings, permanent structures, attached fixtures or equipment, and movable pieces of large
equipment such as fire engines. Bond proceeds should only be used for the following: construc-
tion project costs, acquisition of other fixed assets, bond issue costs, debt service reserve re-
quirements, and refunding of outstanding bond issues. Non-capital furnishings and supplies will
not be financed from bond proceeds. Refunding bond issues designed to restructure outstanding
debt is an acceptable use of bond proceeds.

To provide for unanticipated expenditures and to permit orderly adjustment to changes resulting
from termination of revenue sources or unanticipated fluctuations in revenues, the City should
strive to maintain an undesignated General Fund balance which is ten to fifteen percent of Gen-





eral Fund expenditures. The City may want to create a Debt Amortization fund balance which is
at least 25% of average annual debt service of the succeeding year. Annual debt payments should
remain in the range of 8 - 15 percent of total budgeted expenditures.

The City will seek to maintain certain debt ratios within the medians of cities our size as reported
by Moody's Investors Service. For example in 1997, the comparable comparisons were as fol-
lows:

Stoughton Moody’s Median
Per Capita
Direct Debt $720 $811
Ratio of Net Debt to 1.65% 2.1%

Equalized Value

Additionally, the City will endeavor to maintain debt ratios which compare favorably to cities of
our size in the Dane County area.

The City should pursue all available cash management techniques which will limit the need for
outside interim cash flow borrowing such as tax and grant anticipation notes. The City should
actively monitor its investment practices to ensure maximum returns on its invested bond funds
while complying with Federal arbitrage guidelines.

Whenever the City is contemplating a possible debt issue, information will be developed con-
cerning the following four categories commonly used by rating agencies to assess credit worthi-
ness. The utilization of the following criteria may be selective and not all criteria may apply to a
specific financing.

Debt Analysis Criteria

1. Debt Analysis

- Debt capacity analysis

- Purposes for which debt is issued

- Debt structure

- Debt burden and magnitude indicators and ratios as compared to other communities
- Debt history and trends

- Adequacy of debt and capital planning

- Obsolescence of capital plant

2. Financial Analysis
- Stability, diversity, and growth rates of tax sources
- Trend in assessed valuation and collections
- Current budget trends
- Appraisals of past revenue and expenditure estimates





- Evidences of financial planning

- History and long-term trends of revenues and expenditures
- Adherence to generally accepted accounting principles

- Fund balance status and trends

- Financial monitoring systems and capabilities

3. Governmental and Administrative Analysis
- Adequacy of basic service provision
- Intergovernmental cooperation/conflict and extent of duplication
- Overall city planning efforts

4.  Economic Analysis
- Population and demographic characteristics
- Level of new construction and development
- Types of employment, industry, and occupation
- Trend of the economy

Debt Planning Policies

To allow sufficient time for review and analysis, bond issues should be submitted to the City
Council at least two months prior to the meetings at which Common Council approval will be
requested. General obligation bond borrowing and especially revenue bonds must be planned and
the details of the plan must be incorporated in the multi year CIP program. It is imperative that
the City demonstrates to the rating agencies, investment bankers, our creditors, and City of
Stoughton taxpayers that City officials are following a prescribed financial plan.

Communication and Disclosure Policies

The City will maintain good communications with bond rating agencies to inform them about the
City's financial condition. The City will follow a policy of full disclosure. Significant financial
reports affecting or commenting on the City will be forwarded to the rating agencies. Each bond
prospectus will follow Federal Security and Exchange Commission, State and the Government
Finance Officers Association disclosure guidelines.

The City should attempt to develop coordinated communication processes with all other jurisdic-
tions that share a common property tax base concerning collective plans for future debt issues.
Reciprocally shared information on debt plans including amounts, purposes, timing, and types of
debt would aid each jurisdiction in its debt planning decisions.

General Obligation Bond Policies

A significantly large proportion of Stoughton's property taxpayers and citizens should benefit
from projects financed by general obligation bonds. This principle of taxpayer equity should be a
primary consideration in determining the type of projects selected for financing by general obli-
gation debt. General obligation property tax-supported bonds should be used only after consider-





ing alternative funding sources, such as project revenues, Federal and State grants, and special
assessments.

Every project proposed for financing through general obligation debt should be accompanied by
a full analysis of the future operating and maintenance costs associated with the project. Bonds
cannot be issued for a longer maturity schedule than a conservative estimate of the useful life of
the asset to be financed.

Revenue Bond Policies

Revenue supported bonds should be used to limit potential dependence on property taxes for
those projects with available revenue sources, whether self-generated or dedicated from other
sources. Whenever possible, the City will finance utility or enterprise projects by using self-
supporting revenue bonds. Revenue bonds assure the greatest degree of equity because those
who benefit from a project and those who pay for a project are most closely matched.

Every project proposed for financing through revenue bond debt should be accompanied by a full
analysis of the future operating and maintenance costs associated with the project. Bonds cannot
be issued for a longer maturity schedule than a conservative estimate of the useful life of the
asset to be financed. In order to bring the City's current maturity structure more in line with
existing credit evaluation criteria, the City should attempt to gradually shorten the average ma-
turity of our currently outstanding revenue bond debt.

Long Term Leases

Adequate financial feasibility studies should be performed for all innovative financing proposals
such as lease and lease-purchase agreements. Lease financing is appropriate in the following
situations:

a) Whenever the introduction of leased equipment and/or a capital improvement results in
verifiable operating savings that, properly discounted, outweigh the lease financing costs.

b) To purchase important capital equipment or finance improvement projects for which
lease financing costs can be paid for by: 1) existing non-general fund revenues; 2) new,
earmarked revenues approved by the Council; or 3) incremental general fund revenues that
can be specifically attributed to the introduction of the capital project.

¢) To finance projects deemed important enough (for safety, legal, efficiency, or other rea-
sons) to lead to a reallocation of existing revenues.

Written justification is required for each proposed lease transaction. The project lease payments
and a cash flow statement over the life of the transaction are required for every proposed lease
agreement. This justification should include the following:

a) Detailed explanation of the factors listed in the guidelines;





b) Reasons for not recommending a “current payment” alternative;
c) Explanation for not recommending financing through bond issuance.

Other Types of Debt

The City can act as a conduit for financing a variety of public/private partnerships where a pri-
vate enterprise uses the City as a means of obtaining lower cost financing. These issues in the
past have included "B-Bonds" for subdivision development and Industrial Revenue Bonds
(IRBs) for manufacturing plant expansions. The City has also used Tax Increment Financing
District revenue to fund general obligation and revenue debt issues. Each type of debt issuance
has a different type of concern or issue to deal with.

B-Bonds potentially have the greater risk compared to Industrial Revenue Bonds for the City,
and even though the B-Bond debt is not an obligation of the City, there may be an effect on the
credit rating of the City if the bond issuer defaults. The City should require that the party seeking
the bonds provide the City with a financial plan that demonstrates the need for the special debt
and that the project can sustain the necessary debt payments. In particular the City should deter-
mine the likelihood of the special assessments not being paid off in a timely manner and how the
developer could pay the installments in that case. The City should require the establishment of a
reserve account equal to one year's principal and interest payment. The City should recover all
administrative and issuance costs for the term of the bonds from the bond issuer by insuring that
all of the administrative costs are included in the special assessments. The City will not issue any
B-bond debt for any improvements coupled with a housing development project until there is a
shortage of single family housing as determined by the Dane County Regional Planning Com-
mission or some other recognized agency that can provide housing availability statistics.

Industrial Revenue bond debt merely uses the City as a conduit for obtaining lower cost financ-
ing. Due to the nature of these types of projects, the City has no risk in the case of a default. The
City should insure that the issuance of IRB provides benefit to the City through the creation of
jobs or improvements to the manufacturing capabilities at the site and not for refinancing pur-
poses. The City should recover all administrative and issuance costs for the term of the bonds
from the bond issuer.

Tax Increment Financing District debt is really just another way to collect the funds necessary to
pay for the construction of the infrastructure designed to serve the district. The revenue is from
the differential of the original tax revenue collected from the district before it was created and the
value of the growth. The risk to using TIF debt financing is that the projections of growth may
fail to materialize as quickly as expected and the shortfall which is a general obligation or reve-
nue obligation of the City will have to come from the general taxpayers and not the property
owners that specially benefit from the project. State law was changed in 1995 and established
new controls over the issuance of TIF debt. As a general guide the City should only undertake
TIF projects if there is a committed project that will fund a substantial portion of the expected
debt service. The TIF debt project should only be undertaken if the initial project plus the sched-
ule of improvements over a ten-year period will pay off in ten years or less. The same type of





analysis identified in the Debt Analysis Criteria starting on page two should be done for TIF
related debt as for normal general obligation debt.

Summary of Long-term Obligations

Legal Considerations

General Obligation Bonds and Notes Chapter 67 of the State Statutes. The City is authorized to
issue General Obligation Bonds payable from ad valorem taxes to finance capital improvements.
The repayment term for bonds cannot exceed 20 years and notes cannot exceed 10 years. The
Wisconsin State Statutes provide that the amount of bonds payable from tax receipts (including
bonds payable from special assessments) will not exceed 5% of the total equalized valuation of
the taxable property in the City.

Revenue Bonds for Cities Section 66.51 of the State Statutes. The City is authorized to issue
Industrial Revenue Bonds payable from revenues generated from the owner of the project. The
repayment term cannot exceed 35 years. The Wisconsin State Statutes provide that the credit of
the City will not be pledged to repay this form of debt. This type of debt will not count toward
the 5% calculation discussed above.

Revenue Bonds for Utility Purposes Section 66.066 of the State Statutes. The City is authorized
to issue Revenue Bonds payable from revenues generated from the income of the utility systems
like water, sanitary sewer, electric, transportation and other related types of capital improve-
ments. The repayment term cannot exceed 40 years. The Wisconsin State Statutes provide that
the credit of the City will not be pledged to repay this form of debt. This type of debt will not
count toward the 5% calculation discussed above.

Special Assessment B-Bonds Section 66.54 of the State Statutes. The City is authorized to issue
B-Bonds payable from special assessments levied against benefiting properties. The B-Bonds
can be used to construct improvements like streets, water and sewer lines, sidewalks, street light-
ing, etc. The repayment schedule is complex because the repayment schedule must match that of
the special assessment plan for the particular project. The term cannot exceed the length of time
that the special assessment project is levied for in the adopting ordinance. The Wisconsin State
Statutes provide that the credit of the City will not be pledged to repay this form of debt. This
type of debt will not count toward the 5% calculation discussed above.

Tax and Grant Anticipation Notes. The City is further empowered under the State law to borrow
money to meet the cash requirements of any fund in anticipation of revenue receipts from the
current fiscal year. All such tax and revenue anticipation notes must be repaid within nine
months from the date borrowed and in no event beyond the end of the fiscal year in which the
debt was incurred.

The City has never utilized tax anticipation or grant anticipation notes, but could do so under the
procedures outlined in the State Statues. Unlike tax and revenue anticipation notes which repre-
sent the full faith and credit obligations of the City payable from the General Fund revenues,
grant anticipation notes are special obligations payable solely from, and secured by, federal





highway grants. The taxing power of the City is not pledged to the payment of the notes, nor do
the notes constitute an indebtedness of the City within the meaning of any constitutional, statuto-
ry or charter provision.

Bonds, Notes, and Leases Outstanding
As of January 1, 1999, the City has general obligation bonds totaling $10,971,551 outstanding.

ADOPTED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL: June 8, 1999
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City of Stoughton Policy
for the Creation of Tax Incremental Finance Districts
and the Approval of TIF Projects.

Purpose. This policy has been prepared to assist the City in determining whether
to create a Tax Incremental Finance District, and in determining whether to
approve the use of Tax Incremental Financing for particular projects. The
authority to approve the use of Tax Incremental Financing is vested solely in the
City Council. The City reserves the right to reject any and all projects, including
projects that are eligible for the use of Tax Incremental Financing, for any reason
or no reason. The City Council reserves the right to approve or disapprove any
project as it deems appropriate.

General Goals for the use of Tax Incremental Financing. The City may consider
whether a TIF District or a TIF project serves one or more of the following general
goals when deciding whether to create a TIF District, or whether to provide TIF
financing for a particular project:

A Eliminate blighting influences, redevelop underutilized lands, and provide
suitable sites for industrial, commercial or residential development.

B. Achieve or accelerate development on sites that would not be developed

without the use of Tax Incremental Financing.

Increase employment opportunities in the City.

Increase the tax base for the City and other taxing jurisdictions.

Assists implementation of the City’s Comprehensive Plan.

Provide affordable housing opportunities.

Encourage unsubsidized private development in the City.

GMmMmMOO

TIF District Creation.

A. TIF Districts will be created in accordance with the procedures and
standards in Wis. Stat. § 66.1105, and as such statute may be amended.
(See Appendix A - Department of Revenue TIF Creation Checklist).

B. The City Council may, in individual cases, expand the process for creating
a TIF District in such manner as it deems appropriate.

TIF Project Approval. All TIF projects must be approved by the City Council,
following review and report by the Finance Committee. The Finance Director
shall provide a report to the Finance Committee and the City Council addressing
the following issues, which shall be considered by the Finance Committee and
City Council before approving any TIF project:

A. Is the project authorized by the Project Plan for the TIF District?





B. Does the project serve one or more of the City’s general goals for the use of

TIF?

C. Is Tax Incremental Financing feasible, in that the TIF District will support
the level of TIF investment?

D. Is the amount of Tax Increment Financing requested reasonably necessary

to make the project financially viable?

E. Should a development agreement be required, and what terms should be
included in the agreement?

F. Is more process (such as additional public hearings or a referendum)
appropriate?

G. Such other factors as either the Finance Committee or the City Council
deem appropriate.

5. Permissive Referendum. Before the City may issue bonds or otherwise borrow
funds that will be payable over more than 10 years to fund a TIF project, the City
Council must first adopt a resolution declaring its intent to borrow the funds. If a
number of electors of the city equal to at least 15% of the of the votes cast for
governor at the last general election in the city sign and file a petition conforming
to the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 8.40 with the city clerk requesting submission
of the resolution, the City may not issue bonds or borrow funds for financing the
TIF project without calling a special election to submit the question of bonding or
borrowing to the city electors for their approval.

6. Negotiations. City staff and the city attorney will negotiate development
agreements within the parameters established by the City Council, and subject to
final approval by the City Council.

7. Suspension of Policy. This policy shall be followed in all cases, except where the

common council approves deviating from this policy by a vote of two-thirds of the
members present.

Policy approved by City Council on March 8, 2016
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FINANCE COMMITTEE MINUTES
March 27, 2018
Council Chambers, Public Safety Building

Present:
Chairperson Pat O’ Connor, Tom Majewski, Lisa Reeves, Tim Swadley and Mayor Donna Olson

Others Present:
Finance Director LaBorde, Clerk Licht, and Planning Director Scheel, Public Works Director
Hebert, Utilities Director Kardasz, Karl Schulte of Running Inc., and Joe Murray of Springsted

Absent and Excused:
None

Call toOrder:
Chairperson O’ Connor called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m.

Communications:
Finance Director LaBorde announced that the City was still waiting on final numbers from the
auditors.

Reports:
Finance Director LaBorde announced that the February 2018 Treasurer’ s Report was in the
packet.

OLD BUSINESS

Continued discussion and possible action regarding reguest from Running Inc. related to
Shared-ride Taxi Service

Karl Schulte continued to report the request Running, Inc. to the Finance Committee. He said
that Running Inc. would like to change the mileage range identified in the RFP from 7 milesto 3
miles. He added that the City should establish an Agency Fare at $8.00 per one-way trip. Finally,
he reported that Running, Inc. would honor punch cards that were previously purchased. Mr.
Schulte added that Running is looking at doing something with tickets in order to track usage
better.

Motion by Majewski, second by Reeves to accept the changes presented by Running, Inc.
Motion carried 5-0.

Discussion and possible action regarding 2018 Street and Utility Construction contract 1-
2018

Public Works Director Hebert said that the City only received one bid for the project from
Maddrell Excavating, LLC in the amount of $1,756,948. He stated that the bid was within
$60,000 of the original budgeted cost. He added that there was not sufficient funds in the CIP
budget as they were part of atwo year borrowing program submitted in 2016. Hebert reported
that unused construction funds would be reallocated to the CIP to fund the project.






FINANCE COMMITTEE MINUTES MARCH 27, 2018

Motion by O’ Connor, second by Olson to approve 2018 Street and Utility Construction Contract
1-2018 and award the bid to Maddrell Excavating, LLC in the amount of $1,756,948. Motion
carried 5-0.

Discussion and possible action regarding agreement with Harvest Farms L L C for the
Third Phase of the Nordic Ridge Plat

Planning Director Scheel stated that there could be additional phases. He added that 6 duplex lots
and one multi-family with 75 units will be part of this phase.

Motion by Swadley, second by Reeves to approve an agreement with Harvest Farms, LLC for
the Third Phase of the Nordic Ridge Plat. Motion carried 5-0.

Discussion and possible action to approve a resolution awar ding the sale of $12,565,000
General Obligation Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 2018A

Joe Murray of Springsted reported that the City’s credit rating was confirmed by Moodys as Aa2.
He added that there were 6 competitive bids for the sale of the bonds. Swadley asked if the
borrowing could be paid off early. Murray responded saying that there was a 10 year call off
provision.

Motion by O’ Connor, second by Majewski to approve a resolution awarding the sale of $12,585,
000 Genera Obligation Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series A to Piper Jaffray. Motion carried 5-0.

Discussion and possible action to approve a resolution Authorizing the | ssuance and Sale of
$775,000 Taxable General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 2018B

Joe Murray said that is was efficient to do the borrowing for the demolition of the Highway
Trailer Complex at the same time as the other borrowing. He said that there were 5 bids and the
City would save $11,000 from the original projections. Joe Murray also stated that it would be
more cost effective for the City to sell bonds that to go to borrow from the state trust fund.

Motion by Swadley, second by Reeves to approve a resolution authorizing the issuance and Sale
of $755,000 Taxable General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 2018B to BOK Financial
Securities, Inc. Motion carried 5-0.

Discussion and possible action to award the bid for the Solar Panels at the Nordic Ridge
Park Shelter

Parks and Recreation Director Glynn said that $14,000 was budgeted for the project. The City
received 2 bids.

Motion by Reeves, second by O’ Connor to award the bid for the Solar Panels at the Nordic
Ridge Park Shelter to Full Spectrum Solar in the amount of $10,995. Motion carried 5-0

Discussion and possible action regarding the purchase of electric locks at the Nordic Ridge
Park Shelter

Parks and Recreation Director Glynn said that electric locks are standard in parks throughout the
City. Going forward, the locks will be accounted for in the bid process.
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Motion by Reeves, second by Swadley to approved the purchase of electric locks at the Noridc
Ridge Park shelter in the amount of $3,368. Motion carried 5-0.

Discussion and possible action regarding Parks and Open Space Plan

Parks and Recreation Director Glynn said that previously Director Lynch did the Parks and Open
Space Plan in-house. Gylnn said that by contracting the work out, the plan will be more detailed.
He added that the money will come from the Parks Devel opment Fund.

Motion by O’ Connor, second by Swadley to contract the Parks and Open Space Plan out to
Ayres and Associates in the amount of $17, 320. Motion carried 5-0.

Discussion and possible action regarding DNR Grant Application for Street Sweeper
Motion by Olson, second by Majewski to authorize and direct the Director of Planning &
Development to prepare and submit a Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (DNR) Grant
for Runoff Management for Street Sweeper. Motion carried 5-0.

Discussion and possible action regarding DNR Grant Application to Convert

Bioretention Basin in Industrial Park South to a Wet Detention Basin

Motion by Maewski, second by Reeves to authorize and direct the Director of Planning &
Development to prepare and submit a Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (DNR) Grant
for Runoff Management (Bioretention Basin Conversion). Motion carried 5-0.

Adjournment
Motion by Swadley, second by Majewski to adjourn at 6:30 p.m. Motion carried 5-0.
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ACCOUNTANTS' COMPILATION REPORT

To the City Council
City of Stoughton
Stoughton, Wisconsin

Management is responsible for the accompanying Balance Sheet, Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project
Revenues and Net Cost to be Recovered Through Tax Increments and Historical Summary of Sources, Uses,
and Status of Funds of the City of Stoughton's Tax Incremental Districts No. 3, No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, and No. 7
(“the districts”) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017 and from the date of creation through
December 31, 2017, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. We have performed a compilation engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards for
Accounting and Review Services promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. We did not audit or review the financial statements nor were
we required to perform any procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of the information provided by
management. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any form of assurance on
these financial statements.

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the transactions of the districts and do not purport
to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of the City of Stoughton as of December 31, 2017, and the
changes in its financial position for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Management has omitted the management's discussion and analysis that accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the financial statements. Such
missing information, although not a required part of the financial statements, is required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economical, or historical context.

Madison, Wisconsin
__, 2018
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 3

COMPILED
BALANCE SHEET
As of December 31, 2017

ASSETS
Cash and investments
Taxes receivable

TOTAL ASSETS

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCE
Deferred Inflows of Resources

Unearned revenues
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

Fund Balance
Restricted

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCE

Capital
Projects

Fund

380,069

491,691

871,760

491,691

491,691

380,069

871,760

See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 3

COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF PROJECT COSTS, PROJECT REVENUES,
AND NET COST TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH TAX INCREMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2017

Year From Date
Ended of Creation
PROJECT COSTS
Capital expenditures $ - $ 5,571,359
Professional services - planning, engineering, other 2,970 140,946
Debt issuance cost - 20,162
Interest on long-term debt 37,269 1,369,290
Contributions to other districts - 1,106,252
Total Project Costs 40,239 8,208,009
PROJECT REVENUES
Tax increments 492,440 4,738,190
Intergovernmental 3,264 22,935
Developer guarantees 16,091 48,586
Public charges for services - 12,942
Contribution from other district - 742,340
Transfer from other funds - 181,304
investment income 1,532 56,694
Land sales - 1,383,920
Miscellaneous revenues - 148,244
Total Project Revenues 513,317 7,335,155
NET COST (RECOVERED) TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH
TIF INCREMENTS - DECEMBER 31, 2017 $ (473,078 $ 872,854
RECONCILIATION OF RECOVERABLE COSTS
General obligation debt $ 1,252,923
Fund balance (380,069)
NET COSTS TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH
TAX INCREMENTS — DECEMBER 31, 2017 $ 872,854

See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants’ compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 3

COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF SOURCES, USES, AND STATUS OF FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2017

Year From Date
Ended of Creation
SOURCES OF FUNDS
Tax increments $ 492 440 $ 4,738,190
Intergovernmental 3,254 22935
Developer guarantees 16,091 48,586
Public charges for services - 12,942
Contribution from other district R 742,340
Transfers from other funds - 181,304
Investment income 1,832 56,694
Land sales - 1,383,920
Miscellaneous revenues - 148,244
Long-term debt issued - 6,257,496
Total Sources of Funds 513,317 13,592,651
USES OF FUNDS

Capital expenditures - 5,571,359
Professional services - planning, engineering, other 2,970 140,946
Debt issuance cost - 20,162
Contribution to other district - 1,106,252
Interest on long-term debt 37,269 1,369,290
Principal on long-term debt 403,210 5,004,573
Total Uses of Funds 443 449 13,212,582
Excess of sources of funds over uses of funds 69,868 380,069

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 310,201
ENDING FUND BALANCE $ 380,069 $ 380,069

See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 4

COMPILED
BALANCE SHEET
As of December 31, 2017

Capital
Projects
Fund
ASSETS
Cash and investments $ 1,042,022
Taxes receivable 182,466
TOTAL ASSETS $ 1,224,488
LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND FUND BALANCE
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 4,494
Total Liabilities 4,494
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues 182,466
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 182,466
Fund Balance
Restricted 1,037,528
TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCE $ 1,224,488

See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 4

COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF PROJECT COSTS, PROJECT REVENUES,
AND NET COST RECOVERED THROUGH TAX INCREMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2017

Year From Date
Ended of Creation
PROJECT COSTS
Capital expenditures $ - $ 2033433
Administration (in-house) - 70,139
Revolving loan fund - 50,000
Professional services - planning, engineering, other 5,384 288,799
Debt issuance costs - 26,075
Interest on long-term debt 10,483 788,798
Total Project Costs 15,867 3,257,244
PROJECT REVENUES
Tax increments 180,832 2,284,969
Exempt computer aid - 54,061
Intergovernmental 1,708 89,415
Contribution from other districts - 1,405,024
Sale of property - 550
Developer guarantees - 43,902
Investment income 10,674 121,851
Total Project Revenues 193,214 3,999,772
NET COST (RECOVERED) THROUGH
TIF INCREMENTS - DECEMBER 31, 2017 $ (177,347) $ (742,528)
RECONCILIATION OF RECOVERED COSTS
General obligation debt $ 295,000
Fund balance (1,037,528)
NET COSTS RECOVERED THROUGH
TAX INCREMENTS - DECEMBER 31, 2017 $ (742,528)

See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
Page 6





CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 4

COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF SOURCES, USES, AND STATUS OF FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017

and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2017

SOURCES OF FUNDS
Tax increments
Exempt computer aid
Intergovernmental
Contribution from other districts
Sale of property
Developer guarantees
Investment income
Long-term debt issued

Total Sources of Funds

USES OF FUNDS
Capital expenditures
Administration (in-house)
Revolving loan fund
Professional services - planning, engineering, other
Debt issuance costs
interest on long-term debt
Principal on long-term debt

Total Uses of Funds
Excess of sources of funds over uses of funds
BEGINNING FUND BALANCE

ENDING FUND BALANCE

Year From Date
Ended of Creation
3 180,832 $ 2,284,969
- 54,061
1,708 89,415
- 1,405,024
- 550
- 43,902
10,674 121,851
. 3,160,750
193,214 7,160,522
- 2,033,433
- 70,139
- 50,000
5,384 288,799
- 26,075
10,483 788,798
95,000 2,865,750
110,867 6,122,994
82,347 1,037,528
955,181 -
$ 1037528 $ 1,037,528

See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 5

COMPILED
BALANCE SHEET
As of December 31, 2017

ASSETS
Cash and investments

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Advance from city general fund

Total Liabilities

Fund Balance
Unassigned (deficit)

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE

Capital
Projects

Fund
$ 204,822

$ 204,822

$ 2,187
598,427

600,614

(395,792)

$ 204,822

See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 5

COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF PROJECT COSTS, PROJECT REVENUES,
AND NET COST TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH TAX INCREMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2017

Year From Date
Ended of Creation
PROJECT COSTS
Capital expenditures $ 340693 $ 2,049,110
Professional services - planning, engineering, other 900 46,833
Interest on advances - 96,965
Total Project Costs 341,593 2,192,908
PROJECT REVENUES
Tax increments - 30,147
Transfer from other funds - 100,000
Intergovernmental 38,097 281,328
Developer guarantees 19,442 109,795
Investment income 1,352 1,404
Land sales - 116,616
Miscellaneous revenues - 1,000
Premium on long-term debt 6,826 6,826
Total Project Revenues 65,717 647,116
NET COST TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH
TIF INCREMENTS - DECEMBER 31, 2017 3 275876 $ 1,545,792
RECONCILIATION OF RECOVERABLE COSTS
General obligation debt $ 1,150,000
Add: Fund balance deficit 395,792
NET COSTS TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH
TAX INCREMENTS - DECEMBER 31, 2017 $ 1,545,792

See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 5

COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF SOURCES, USES, AND STATUS OF FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2017

Year From Date
Ended of Creation
SOURCES OF FUNDS
Tax increments $ - 9% 30,147
Transfers from other funds - 100,000
Intergovernmental 38,097 281,328
Developer guarantees 19,442 109,795
Investment income 1,352 1,404
Land sales - 116,616
Miscellaneous revenues = 1,000
Long-term debt issued 300,000 1,150,000
Premium on long-term debt 6,826 6,826
Total Sources of Funds 365,717 1,797,116
USES OF FUNDS

Capital expenditures 340,693 2,049,110
Professional services - planning, engineering, other 900 46,833
interest on advance 5 96,965
Total Uses of Funds 341,593 2,192,908
Excess (deficiency) of sources of funds over uses of funds 24 124 (395,792)

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT) (419,916)
ENDING FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT) $ (395,792) § (395,792)

See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 6

COMPILED
BALANCE SHEET
As of December 31, 2017

ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT)
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Advances from city general fund

Total Liabilities

Fund Balance
Unassigned (deficit)

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT)

Capital
Projects

Fund

$ 16,566

34,649

51,215

(51,215)

See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 6

COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF PROJECT COSTS, PROJECT REVENUES,
AND NET COST TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH TAX INCREMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2017

Year From Date
Ended of Creation
PROJECT COSTS
Capital expenditures $ 556,831 $ 556,831
Professional services - planning, engineering, other 9,523 28,123
Debt issuance cost 5189 5,189
Total Project Costs 571,543 590,143
PROJECT REVENUES
Miscellaneous revenues 21,945 21,945
Premium on long-term debt 11,983 11,983
Total Project Revenues 33,928 33,928
NET COST RECOVERABLE THROUGH
TIF INCREMENTS - DECEMBER 31, 2017 $ 537615 $ 556,215
RECONCILIATION OF RECOVERABLE COSTS
General obligation debt 3 505,000
Add: Fund balance deficit 51,215
NET COSTS TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH
TAX INCREMENTS - DECEMBER 31, 2017 $ 556,215

See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 6

COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF SOURCES, USES, AND STATUS OF FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2017

Year From Date
Ended of Creation
SOURCES OF FUNDS
Miscellaneous revenues $ 21945 § 21,945
Long-term debt issued 505,000 505,000
Premium on long-term debt 11,983 11,983
Total Sources of Funds 538,928 538,928
USES OF FUNDS
Capital expenditures 556,831 556,831
Professional services - planning, engineering, other 9,623 28,123
Debt issuance cost 5,189 5,189
Total Uses of Funds 571,543 590,143
(Deficiency) of sources of funds over uses of funds (32,615) (561,215)
BEGINNING FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT) (18,600) -
ENDING FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT) 3 (51,215) $ (561,215)

See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 7

COMPILED
BALANCE SHEET
As of December 31, 2017

Capital
Projects
Fund
ASSETS
Cash and investments $ 1,081,452
Tax roll receivable 415,963
Accounts receivable 11,127
TOTAL ASSETS $ 1,508,542
LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCE
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 2,930
Total Liabilities 2,930
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues 415,963
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 415 963
Fund Balance
Restricted 1,089,649
TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND FUND BALANCE $ 1,508,542

See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 7

COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF PROJECT COSTS, PROJECT REVENUES,
AND NET COST TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH TAX INCREMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2017

Year From Date
Ended of Creation
PROJECT COSTS
Capital expenditures 3 75684 $ 3,764,763
Administration (in-house) 23,678 23,678
Professional services - planning, engineering, other 1,239 5,452
Debt issuance costs - 45,926
Interest on Long-Term Debt 116,059 116,059
Total Project Costs 216,660 3,955,878
PROJECT REVENUES
Tax Increments 242 013 242,013
Premium on long-term debt - 9,120
Investment income 8,449 19,394
Total Project Revenues 250,462 270,527
NET COST TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH
TIF INCREMENTS - DECEMBER 31, 2017 3 (33,802) $ 3,685,351
RECONCILIATION OF RECOVERABLE COSTS
Long-term debt $ 4,775,000
Fund balance (1,089,649)
NET COSTS TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH
TAX INCREMENTS — DECEMBER 31, 2017 $ 3,685,351

See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants’ compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 7

COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF SOURCES, USES, AND STATUS OF FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2017

Year From Date
Ended of Creation
SOURCES OF FUNDS
Tax increments $ 242013 % 242,013
Investment income 8,449 19,394
Premium on long-term debt - 9,120
Long-term debt issued - 4,775,000
Total Sources of Funds 250,462 5,045,527
USES OF FUNDS
Capital expenditures 75,684 3,764,763
Administration (in-house) 23,678 23,678
Professional services - planning, engineering, other 1,239 5,452
Debt issuance cost - 45,926
Interest on long-term debt 116,059 116,059
Total Uses of Funds 216,660 3,955,878
Excess of sources of funds over uses of funds 33,802 1,089,649
BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 1,055,847 -
ENDING FUND BALANCE $ 1089649 $ 1,089,649

See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
Page 16





CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICTS NO. 3, NO. 4, NO. 5, NO. 6, AND NO. 7

COMPILED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
From the Dates of Creation Through December 31, 2017

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies of the City of Stoughton's Tax Incremental Districts No. 3, No. 4, No. 5, No. 6,
and No. 7 (the "districts") conform to accounting principles as applicable to governmental units and as
defined by Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105.

The City of Stoughton has implemented accounting principies generally accepted in the United States
of America to the extent they apply in determining the scope of the activity of Tax Incremental Districts
No. 3, No. 4 No. 5, No. 6, and No. 7. The accompanying financial statements reflect all the significant
operations of the City of Stoughton’s Tax Incremental Districts No. 3, No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, and No. 7. The
accompanying financial statements do not include the full presentation of the City of Stoughton.

A. DESCRIPTION OF FUND AND ACCOUNT GROUP STRUCTURE

This report contains the financial information of the City of Stoughton's Tax Incremental Districts No. 3,
No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, and No. 7. The summary statements were prepared from data recorded in the
following funds and the city’s long-term debt:

Debt Service Fund
Capital Projects Fund

Detailed descriptions of the purpose of these funds and long-term debt can be found in the City of
Stoughton's basic financial statements.

The data was consolidated for purposes of this report. Therefore, the amounts shown in the
accompanying statements will not directly correlate with amounts shown in the basic financial statements.

The districts were created under the provisions of Wisconsin Statute Section 66.1105. The purpose of
that section is to allow a municipality to recover development and improvements costs in a designated
area from the property taxes generated on the increased value of the property after the creation date of
the districts. The tax on the increased value is called a tax increment.

The statutes allow the districts to collect tax increments until the net project cost has been fully recovered,
or until 27 years, for TID Nos. 3, 4, and 5 and 20 years for TID Nos. 6 and 7, after the creation date,
whichever occurs first. Project costs uncollected at the dissolution date are absorbed by the City of
Stoughton. Project costs may be incurred up to five years before the unextended termination date of the
districts.

Original Project Plan
Creation Last Date to Incur Last Year to
Date Project Costs Collect Increment
TID No. 3 1-1-1993 11-24-2014 2020
TID No. 4 1-1-1999 3-23-2021 2026
TID No. 5 1-1-2010 3-12-2032 2037
TID No. 6 1-1-2015 9-29-2030 2036
TIDNo. 7 1-1-2015 11-11-2029 2035
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICTS NO. 3, NO. 4, NO. 5, NO. 6, AND NO. 7

COMPILED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
From the Dates of Creation Through December 31, 2017

NOTE 1 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

A. DESCRIPTION OF FUND AND ACCOUNT GROUP STRUCTURE (cont.)

Plan Amendments
Adoption
Date

TID No. 3 Amendment No. 1 10-23-2007
TID No. 3 Amendment No. 2 10-23-2012
TID No. 4 Amendment No. 1 9-26-2006
TID No. 4 Amendment No. 2 1-12-2010

B. BAsSIS OF ACCOUNTING

The modified accrual basis of accounting was followed in the preparation of these statements. Under the
modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when susceptible to accrual, i.e., both
measurable and available. Available means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter
to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. Project costs, other than interest on long-term debt, are
recorded when the related fund liability is incurred.

District increments are recorded as revenues in the year due. Intergovernmental aids and grants are
recognized as revenues in the period the related expenditures are incurred, if applicable, or when the city
is entitled to the aids.

Special assessments are recorded as revenues when collected. Annual installments due in future years
are accounted for as receivables and unavailable revenues. There are no special assessments
receivables as of the date of this report.

Other general revenues are recognized when received in cash or when measurable and available under
the criteria described above.

C. USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICTS NO. 3, NO. 4, NO. 5, NO. 6, AND NO. 7

COMPILED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
From the Dates of Creation Through December 31, 2017

NOTE 1 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

D. MEASUREMENT Focus

The measurement focus of all governmental funds is the funds flow concept. Under the funds flow
concept, sources and uses of financial resources, including capital outlays, debt proceeds and debt
retirements are reflected in operations. Resources not available to finance expenditures and
commitments of the current period are recognized as unavailable or unearned revenue or as
nonspendable fund equity. Liabilities for claims, judgments, compensated absences and pension
contributions which will not be currently liquidated using expendable available financial resources are
shown in the long-term debt footnote disclosure. The related expenditures are recognized when the
liabilities are liquidated.

E. PROJECT PLAN BUDGETS

The estimated revenues and expenditures of the districts are adopted in the project plans. Those
estimates are for the entire life of the districts, and may not be comparable to interim results presented in
this report.

F. LONG-TERM DEBT

Short-term liabilities are recorded as fund liabilities. All other long-term liabilities are shown in the
long-term debt footnote disclosure.

Proceeds of long-term debt issues not recorded as fund liabilities are reflected as "Sources of Funds" in
the operating statement of the recipient fund. Retirement of these issues is reported as expenditure in the
year in which the debt matures or is repaid, whichever is earlier.

G. CLAIMS AND JUDGMENTS

Claims and judgments are recorded as liabilities if all the conditions of Governmental Accounting
Standards Board pronouncements are met. The liability and expenditure for claims and judgments is only
reported in governmental funds if it has matured. Claims and judgments are disclosed in the long-term
debt footnote when the related liabilities are incurred.

NOTE 2 — CASH AND TEMPORARY INVESTMENTS

The districts invest their funds in accordance with the provisions of the Wisconsin Statutes 66.0603(1m)
and 67.11(2).

Investments are stated at fair value, which is the amount at which an investment could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties. Fair values are based on quoted market prices. No
investments are reported at amortized cost. Adjustments necessary to record investments at fair value
are recorded in the operating statement as increases or decreases in investment income.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICTS NO. 3, NO. 4, NO. 5, NO. 6, AND NO. 7

COMPILED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
From the Dates of Creation Through December 31, 2017

NOTE 2 — CASH AND TEMPORARY INVESTMENTS (cont.)

The districts, as funds of the city, maintain separate and common cash and investment accounts at the
same financial institutions utilized by the city. Federal depository insurance and the State of Wisconsin

Guarantee fund insurance apply to the City of Stoughton as an individual municipality, and, accordingly,
the amount of insured funds is not determinable for the districts.

NOTE 3 — LONG-TERM DEBT

A. GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT

All general obligation notes and bonds payable are backed by the full faith and credit of the City of
Stoughton. Notes and bonds borrowed to finance the districts' expenditures will be retired by tax
increments accumulated by the TIF District funds. If those revenues are not sufficient, payments will be
made by future tax levies or utility revenues, as applicable.

Original
Amount Balance
Borrowed Repaid 12-31-17
TIF District No. 3

03/18/93 Promissory Note — 6.00% $ 189950 $ 189,950 % -
10/01/93 Promissory Note — 4.40-6.00% 1,980,000 1,980,000 -
05/01/02 Promissory Note — 3.50-4.375% 80,483 80,483 -
09/16/02 Refunding Bonds — 3.00-3.75% 1,382,063 1,382,063 -
06/26/13 State Trust Fund Loan - 2.75% 1,400,000 772,077 627,923
06/01/14 Promissory Note — 2.00% 1,225,000 600,000 625,000
Totals $ 6257496 $ 5004573 $ 1,252923

Aggregate maturities of all long-term debt relating to the district are as follows:

Calendar
Year Principal Interest Totals
2018 $ 408,661 $ 27,718 $ 436,379
2019 419,282 17,967 437,229
2020 425,000 8,029 433,029
Totals $ 1,252,923 § 53,714 $ 1,306,637
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICTS NO. 3, NO. 4, NO. 5, NO. 6, AND NO. 7

COMPILED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

From the Dates of Creation Through December 31, 2017

NOTE 3 - LONG-TERM DEBT (cont.)

A. GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT (cont.)

Original
Amount Balance
Borrowed Repaid 12-31-17
TIF District No. 4
02/23/99 State Trust Fund Loan — 5.25% $ 162,000 $ 162,000 ¢ -
08/09/00 State Trust Fund Loan — 5.25% 355,080 355,080 -
06/01/01 Promissory Note — 4.10-4.60% 1,025,000 1,025,000 -
06/01/01 Promissory Note — 4.10-4.60% 154,427 154,427
06/15/03 Promissory Note — 3.0 - 3.375% 292,105 292,105 -
06/22/04 State Trust Fund Loan — 4% 213,746 213,746 -
04/14/09 Promissory Note — 1.60 — 3.85% 163,392 163,392 -
04/13/10 G.O. Refunding Bonds1.0 — 3.25% 795,000 500,000 295,000
Totals $ 3,160,750 $ 2,865750 $ 295,000
Aggregate maturities of all long-term debt relating to the district are as follows:
Calendar
Year Principal Interest Totals
2018 $ 95,000 $ 7,775 $ 102,775
2019 100,000 4,800 104,800
2020 100,000 1,625 101,625
Totals $ 295,000 $ 14200 $ 309,200
Original
Amount Balance
Borrowed Repaid 12-31-17
TIF District No. 5
12/28/16 State Trust Fund Loan — 3.5% $ 850,000 § - $ 850,000

Page 21





CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICTS NO. 3, NO. 4, NO. 5, NO. 6, AND NO. 7

COMPILED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
From the Dates of Creation Through December 31, 2017

NOTE 3 - LONG-TERM DEBT (cont.)

A. GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT (cont.)
TIF District No. 5 (cont.)

Aggregate maturities are as follows:

Calendar
Year Principal Interest Totals
2018 $ 26,428 % 36,026 % 62,454
2019 33,629 28,825 62,454
2020 34,730 27,724 62,454
2021 36,021 26,433 62,454
2022 37,282 25,172 62,454
2023-2027 206,853 105,417 312,270
2028-2032 245,664 66,604 312,268
2033-2036 229,393 20,421 249,814
Totals $ 850,000 $ 336,622 $ 1,186,622
Original
Amount Balance
Borrowed Repaid 12-31-17
TIF District No. 6
06/08/2017 Promissory Notes —2.00-3.00% $ 505,000 $ - $ 505,000

Aggregate maturities of all long-term debt relating to the district are as follows:

Calendar
Year Principal Interest Totals

2018 3 45,000 $ 14676 $ 59,676
2019 45,000 10,163 55,163
2020 50,000 9,213 59,213
2021 50,000 8,213 58,213
2022 50,000 7,088 57,088
2023-2026 265,000 16,006 281,006

Totals $ 505,000 $ 65,359 $ 570,359
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICTS NO. 3, NO. 4, NO. 5, NO. 6, AND NO. 7

COMPILED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
From the Dates of Creation Through December 31, 2017

NOTE 3 — LONG-TERM DEBT (cont.)

B. NOTE ANTICIPATION NOTES

Original
Amount Balance
Borrowed Repaid 12-31-17
TIF District No. 7
10/21/15 Note Anticipation Notes — 1.250% §$ 4,775,000  § - $ 4,775,000
Total $ 4775000  $ - $ 4,775,000
Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:
Calendar
Year Principal Interest Totals
2018 $ 4775000 % 50688 $ 4,834,688
Totals $ 4775000 § 59,688 $ 4,834,688

NOTE 4 — ADVANCES FROM/DUE TO CiTY GENERAL FUND

The general fund is advancing funds to TIF Districts No. 5 and No. 6. The amount advanced is
determined by the deficiency of revenues over expenditures and other financing sources since the
district's inception. A repayment schedule has not been established.

NOTE 5 — INCREMENT SHARING

As allowable under TIF statutes, the city may share positive TIF increments. In 1998, and again in 2003,
the city and joint review board approved sharing increments from TIF District No. 2 (donor district,
subsequently closed) to TIF District No. 3 (donee district). Such transfers are reflected as recoverable
costs in the donor district, and as project revenues in the donee district. TIF increment sharing was valid
for a five-year period, and was extended for an additional five years by the joint review board. Transfers
between districts are subject to various conditions in the statutes.

In 20086, the city and joint review board approved sharing increments from TIF District No. 2 (donor
district, subsequently closed) to TIF District No. 4 (donee district). Transfers were approved to begin in
2007. State statutes limit the number of years a district may share increments to ten. The increment
sharing with TIF District No. 4 was allowable for years 2007 through 2009. TIF District No. 2 was closed in
2009.

In 2007, the city and joint review board approved sharing increments from TIF District No. 3 (donor
district) to TIF District No 4 (donee district). Transfers began in 2007 and were valid for a five-year period.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICTS NO. 3, NO. 4, NO. 5, NO. 6, AND NO. 7

COMPILED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
From the Dates of Creation Through December 31, 2017

NOTE 6 — TRANSFERS FROM OTHER FUNDS

The city has transferred funds to TIF Districts No. 3 and No. 5 to cover deficits over the years. Itis the
intent of the city to have TIF Districts No. 3 and No. 5 repay the general fund for these transfers
contingent upon future availability of funds. The following is a historical summary of transfers for TIF
District No. 3:

1993 $ 30,000
1997 30,212
1998 104,150
2001 10,451
2002 6,491

Totals $ 181,304

The following is a historical summary of transfers for TIF District No. 5:

2010 $ 100,000

NOTE 7 — DEVELOPER AGREEMENTS

TIF District No. 6 has entered into a developer agreement with North American fur Auction ("NAFA”)
where the city shall construct the city improvements and provide a non-cash development incentive, by
conveying a piece of land in the amount of $377,000. City fulfilled its obligation during 2017.

TIF District No. 7 has entered into a developer agreement where the TID shall reimburse developer for
off-site public improvements in the amount of $3,763,230. The TID has reimbursed $3,763,230 as of
December 31, 2017.

NOTE 8 — DEVELOPER PAYMENTS

No developer payments were made by TIF 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 for 2017.

NOTE 9 — GUARANTEED REVENUE

TIF District No. 3 has entered into a development agreement with Nelson Global Products, Inc. (the
“developer”). The agreement guarantees the city will receive a tax increment equal to the annual
applicable mill rate multiplied by $3,750,000. The developer shall pay the difference between the
guaranteed tax increment and the tax increment actually levied. The developer's guarantee obligation
shall terminate when the city has collected from the tax increment generated from the district or paid
under the agreement not less than $320,600, or when TIF District No. 3 has terminated, whichever occurs
first. TIF guarantee payment received in 2017 was $16,091.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICTS NO. 3, NO. 4, NO. 5, NO. 6, AND NO. 7

COMPILED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
From the Dates of Creation Through December 31, 2017

NOTE 9 — GUARANTEED REVENUE (cont.)

TIF District No. 5 has entered into a development agreement with Movin’ Qut Development, LLC (the
“developer”). The agreement guarantees that the developer shall pay the difference between the
guaranteed tax increment and the tax increment actually levied. The guarantee obligation shall terminate
when the city has collected from the tax increment generated from the district or been paid under this
agreement the full amount of the project costs of not less than $610,753 plus 5 percent interest accruing
from January 1, 2012. TIF guarantee payment received in 2017 was $19,442.

TIF District No. 6 has entered into a development agreement with North American Fur Auction (“NAFA”).
The agreement guarantees the assessed value of NAFA’s property will be not less than $1,100,000,
$3,500,000 and $5,000,000 by January 1, 2018, 2019 and 2021 respectively. Beginning calendar year
2019, NAFA shall pay the difference between the guaranteed tax increment on the assessed values and
the tax increment actually levied. The agreement shall continue until TIF District No. 6 has terminated.
There was no guarantee payment due or received in 2017.

TIF District No. 7 has entered into a development agreement with Kettle Park West, LLC ("KPW"). The
agreement guarantees that beginning in calendar year 2018, the actual tax increment will be sufficient to
fully pay the annual debt service on city borrowing. The developer shall pay the difference between the
guaranteed tax increment and the tax increment actually levied. The guarantee obligation shall terminate
in 2034 or when the TIF District No. 7 has been terminated — whichever is sooner.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON, 381 E. MAIN ST., STOUGHTON WI 53589

RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL

Authorizing and directing the proper City official(s) to reallocate capital funds from the 2018 Streets
Preventative Maintenance fund to be used for 2018 Road Construction and enter into an agreement with
Nelson Excavating and Son, LLC. for the 2018 Street and Utility Construction Contract 2-2018.

Committee Action:  Finance Meets on April 10, 2018

Fiscal Impact: Contract 2-2018 $729,845.00

File Number: R-69-2018 DatelIntroduced:  April 10, 2018

WHEREAS, The City of Stoughton shdl reallocate $40,000.00 from the 2018 Preventative Maintenance
capital budget; and

WHEREAS, After redllocation of funds, the City and Stoughton Utilities has sufficient capitd to fund
Contract 2-2018; and

WHEREAS, Contract 2-2018 includes street reconstruction, storm sewer infrastructure ingtdlation and repair

aong with water and sanitary sewer improvementsto Academy Street and culvert replacement on East Street;
and

WHEREAS, The City received five bids for Contract 2-2018; and
WHEREAS, Strand & Associates, the City' s contracted engineering firm, has reviewed the bidsand

recommends awarding the contract to Nelson Excavating and Son, LLC., who is deemed to be the lowest
qualified and responsible bidder, in the amount of $729,845.00; and

WHEREAS, the bid amount is within the City of Stoughton capital budget. Now therefore
BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that the proper city officid(s) be hereby

directed and authorized to enter into an agreement with Nelson Excavating and Son, LLC. for $729,845.00
contingent upon approval asto form by the City Attorney.

Council Action: |:| Adopted |:| Failed Vote

Mayoral Action: |:| Accept |:| Veto

Donna Olson, Mayor Date

Council Action: |:| Override Vote






CITY OF STOUGHTON

PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT BRETT HEBERT

515 South Fourth Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 [B’;:‘Z%tgtg CFi’l;?c')'Ser\]/tgfr'](iv "
(608) 877-6303 Ext. 622 : Wi

(608) 877-8387 Fax
www.cityofstoughton.com

Date: April 5, 2018
To: Common Council
From: Brett Hebert, Director of Public Works

Subject: 2018 Street and Utility Construction Contract No. 2-2018

Dear Alders,

On March 29, 2018, the City received five bids for contract 2-2018, which includes street
reconstruction, extensive storm water construction and some water and sanitary infrastructure
replacement on Academy St and culvert replacement on East St. Nelson Excavating and Son,
LLC was the apparent low bidder at $729,845. This is a favorable bid that is almost $120,000
less than the engineers estimate.

The street and storm sewer bid amount did come in slightly above our 2018 Capital Budget
amount. Our anticipated shortfall for contract 2-2018 for the street and storm sewer
construction portion is $36,840. The reason for the shortfall is that cost estimates in the CIP
budget were submitted, as part of a two year borrowing program in 2016, before our
engineering consultants had a chance to thoroughly review the scope of the project and
update projected costs. Over the past year and a half, the scope of work changed based on
survey work that was done in preparation for construction in 2018. Going forward, we have a
plan in place to get our consulting engineers engaged sooner in the planning and estimating
phase of preparing the Capital Improvement Plan so we are less likely to have these types of
shortfalls in the future.

Staff recommends reallocating $40,000 from the Capital Preventative Maintenance fund to the
2018 Road Construction fund to eliminate the shortfall (see attached spreadsheet). Projects
can be adjusted in the Preventative Maintenance fund to accommodate for such a reallocation.

The sanitary sewer portion of the bid was within Stoughton Utilities (SU) budgeted amount.
However, the water portion is slightly over the amount budgeted for water main and lead
service replacement projects in 2018, but the Utility was able to absorb the shortfall within their
budget without borrowing additional funds. The reason for this shortfall is similar to the reason
for the streets and storm sewer shortfall: changes to the scope of work that were made based
on actual survey findings.

After careful staff review, and consultation with Strand and Associates, staff recommends
approving the proposed budget reallocations from the attached spreadsheet and awarding





contract 2-2018 to Nelson Excavating LLC for the bid amount of $729,845 as they have been
determined to be a qualified, responsible bidder and the bid amount is almost $120,000 below
the engineers estimate.

If you have any questions or concerns, please don’t hesitate to contact myself or Rodney.

Respectfully,

Brett Hebert
Director of Public Works

Attachment





Contract 1-2018 Funding

Contract 2-2018

2018 Budget| Nelson Bid | Difference
Street Construction (Includes assessable items) $411,552 | $505,053 ($93,501)
Storm Water (2017 Stormwater Construction) $150,000 | $205,932 ($55,932)
Professional Services/Contingency 9% $63,989 ($63,989)
Total $561,552 | $774,974 ($213,422)

Contract 2-2018 Shortfall ($213,422)
Fund Reallocation Balance from C1-2018 $19,851
2018 Engineering (2017 Capital) 55,800
2018 Preventatative Maintenance Funds 40,000
Excess Funds From Veterans Rd $100,931
Remaining Funds $3,160






Strand Associates, Inc?

A 910 West Wingra Drive

N Madison, WI 53715
J

(P) 608-251-4843
STRAND

ASSOCIATES®
March 30, 2018

Mr. Brett Hebert, Director of Public Works
City of Stoughton

381 East Main Street

Stoughton, WI 53589

Re: Academy Street Reconstruction
Contract No. 2-2018
City of Stoughton

Dear Brett,

Bids for the Academy Street Reconstruction project were opened on March 29, 2018. Five bids were
received with the resulting bid tabulation enclosed.

Nelson Excavating and Son LLC of Oregon, WI was the apparent low bidder at $729,845. The bid
included a bid bond for 10 percent and Addendum No. 1 was acknowledged.

Strand Associates, Inc.® has previously worked with Nelson Excavating and Son LLC on a project for
the Village of Brooklyn, WI. Based on our previous experience with this contractor, we have found
Nelson Excavating and Son LLC to be responsible.

Please contact me with any questions regarding this project.

Sincerely,

STRAND ASSOCIATES, INC.®

Kyle R. White

Enclosure

ok Rodney Scheel, Director of Planning and Development. City of Stoughton

MAF:KRW:ler\R:\MAD\Documents\Specifications\Archive\2018\Stoughton, =~ WI\1040.114.2-2018.maf\(16)  Specification = Letters\(a)  Resulting  Bid
Tabulation\03302018.docx

Arizona | llinois | Indiana | Kentucky | Ohio | Texas | Wisconsin www.strand.com






Bids Received: 11:00 AM STRAND ASSOCIATES, INC.®
March 29, 2018 910 West Wingra Drive
Madison, Wisconsin 53715

ACADEMY STREET RECONSTRUCTION
CONTRACT 2-2018 _
CITY OF STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN

BID TABULATION SUMMARY

Bidder Bid Bond

and or Addenda Computed Total
Address Guarantee | Acknowledged Bid
Nelson Excavating and Son LLC 5

3898 OId Stone Road 0% 188 $729,845.00
Oregon, WI 53575 *$729,345.00
Maddrell Excavating LLC o

N3371 West 3rd Avenue 10% ves e S
Brodhead, WI 53520

McGuire, Inc. B

W7022 Fiwy 11 10% Yes $864,123.20
Monroe, WI 53566 *$854,756.20
E&N Hughes Company, Inc. o

N2629 Coplien Road 10% Yes $993,170.50
Monroe, WI 53566

R.G. Huston Company, Inc. 10% Vean $995,592.20

2561 Coffeytown Road
Cottage Grove, WI 53527

*Contractor's Computed Total

Reviewed by: W

=

MAF:lenR:\MAD\Documents\Specifications\Archive\2018\Stoughton, WI\1040.114.2-2018.maf\(14) Bid Tabs\Stoughton.2-2018.BT1.docx
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